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ANNUAL REPORT. 11

temporary inconvenience, a loyal endeavour has been maded carry
out the wishes of the originators of the scheme in the angiefpation that
ultimate good will result.

In the General Hospital—the Cancer JMarity is dealt with
separately in another place—3,918 In-Egflents received treatment,
representing an inerease of 59 patientg®n the figures for the previous
year.

The average daily number of gecupied beds throughout the year

was 26058, greater by 3'08 than the figure for 1905,

In the Out-Patient Department,™shgugh the actual number of

patients relieved was less by 283 than thé™sgar before, the figures

- being 47,597 as against 47,880, the total number ok attendances of the
patients was greater by 5,705, indicating that the cises treated were
of a more serious character.

Of these patients 1.342 were treated in the Eleftrical and Light
*Department, their total attendances numbering 14636,

The Festival Dinner, which it will be remempéred was unavoidably
postponed the previous year, was successfuld® carried out under the
auspices of H.R.H. The Duke of Connaygft and Strathearn, in May
last. _ o

- In addition to the contributigs® made when the appeal was first
issued the Festival was the gf€ans of augmenting the * Ovdinary
Income” for the year by#4,266 10s 6d., principally in the form
of donations, r

In spite of the gPestival, “subscriptions” show a decrease of
£73 14z, a circungftance which is to be deplored; as it is most
desirable that tlds source of income should be strengthened,
indicating, as it ddes, individual interest in and sympathy with the
work of the Institdtion.

It is gratifying #g note, on the other hand, that the receipts from
Alms Boxes, represei§ing contributions from the working classes who
make use of the institukion, have grown by over £100.

From King Edwards Hospital Fund for London a grant of £3,000
was received, whilst tife awards from the Hospital Sunday Fund and
Hospital Saturday Bfind amounted to £2,757 1s 8d. and £453 10s,
respectively. F

The total “ @rdinary Income” was £21,680 1s. 1d.

Notable gfiongst the Legacies received were £2,027 45, 2d. under
the will gf#he late William Bykur, Esq., being one-twelfth share of the
residpg’of his estate ; £1,000 each from Lady Sandhurst, Sir Arthur
*-=:': ley Watson, Bart., K.C., and John Thomson, Esq. ; £971 18s. 7d.
{on aceount) from the Executors of the late Charles Turner, Esq. ; anda
diseretionary bequest of £900 from the executors of James Toleman,

-~ Esq. The total receipts from this source amounted to £9,532 6s. 9d.,
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which, though greater than the sum for the previous year, was yet
considerably belowjthe average. k4

His Majesty the King graciously continues his annual subseription
of £100, and has glso observed his usual custom of sending presents of
game and cast ligfen for the patients,

We are also indebted to Lord Howard de Walden for continuing
his annual subsctiption of £300. :

Of the Donationg received the following, by reason of their liberal
character, are particularlysyorthy of mention : £500 from the Right
Hon. The Earl of Derby ; £3¢5 from W. Hamilton Yatman, Esq. ;
£500 from “R.W.” ; from the§{Worshipful Company of Goldsmiths,
and the Worshipful Company of Mercers, £250 and £210, respectively ;
from T. F. Blackwell, Esq., £15% 10s. ; £105 each from Messrs. Crosse
and Blackwell, Messrs. W. ail A. Gilbey, and the Worshipful
Company of Fishmongers; aifd several gifts of £100 each from
generous benefactors, including The Princess Polignac, Sir Donald
Currie, G.C.M.G., Major W.fH. Mullens, Major R. L. Mullens,
P. L. Argenti, Esq., and Mrs. M. A, Goodlake (Convalescent
Home), b

Our thanks are due to Mwus. Dundas Robertson, Mrs. Cecil
Chichester and Miss Cottrell-Domper, who have sent 200 flannel
jackets for the use of the patients, in Mgmory of their mother, the late
Mrs. Cottrell Dormer, who for many yv#grs before her death was a
Governor of the Hospital, and made a simifgr gift. )

To Messrs. Schweppe, who supply gratd§gously all syphon soda-
water required by the Patients, and to Messi§ W. and G, Buszard
for supplying cakes to the Out-Patient Depgrtment, we are also
greatly indebted.

We also desire to acknowledge with gratefulfappreciation copies of
The Daily Telegraph, The Daily Mail, The Baily Chronicle, The
Tribune, Lloyd’'s Weekly, and The Reader, kind ¥ provided for the
Patients by the respective Proprietors, 3

Of the various expenses necessarily incurrefl in connection with
the domestic economy of the Hospital, thosdl for the purchase of
vegetables and general farm produce are by no eans inconsiderable,
a point which has already been realised by many kind friends, who by
thoughtful gifts of game, poultry and all clasges of vegetables, have
been instrumental in reducing our liabilities in this respect to some
extent. , t

Whilst expressing our gratitude to all those who have helped us in
this direction in the past we are anxions to enlist the sympathy of
others with large gardens or lind under cultivation, in the hope that
we may have an opportunity of utilising the surplus which frequently
occurs in fruitful seasons.

7]
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Although, for reasons already given, it is impossible to attempt a
close analysis of the * Ordinary Expenditure,” a few general remarks
thereon\may with advantage be made.

For instance, it will be observed that the cost of “ washing” is not
separately stated. These expenses are now distributed throughout the
sub-divisions of the sections headed * Domestie,” * Establishment
Charges,” and “Salaries and Wages,” and are consequently included
in the total."

The expendliture on * Bedding and Linen” and *“ Hardware and
Crockery,” whigh has recently been exceptionally low, owing to the
fact that a large'quantity of these articles was obtained in 1901, now,
in consequence of'the necessary replenishing of the stock, shows an
upward tendency. 3

The increase of €409 3s. 9d. under “ Nursing” is accounted for
by the fact that thq salaries of tbe Sisters, formerly borne by
the Lady Probationer Fee Fund, are now paid out of the General
Fund, ' :

The total “ Ordinary‘Expenditure” amounted to £30,507 6s., an
inerease of £1,144 14s. 3d., but when the higher prices paid for
provisions, coal and light, ahd the new charge for the insurance of the
staff and employees under the Employers' Liability Act arve considered,
side by side with the return o {t-h-& number of patients treated, there
is distinet evidence that the wnlrl-: of the Hospital has during the past
year been conducted upon more Qcﬂnnmlml lines—an argument which
is amply supported by the dec:-'ea.ae in the average cost of each
oceupied bed. ¥

In connection with the Samanmlt"h and Convalescent Home Fund

Account a decrease of £342 odd in t:‘he “ Ordinary Income” amount
OCCUTs, %
Annual Subseriptions appear at a’ slightly lower figure, but
Donations, on the other hand, have impr a"#’ed by £84 14s. A grant of
£200 fo the Fund was made by the Distrll:mtmn Committee of King
Edward's Hospital Fund.

Lady Riddell's donation of £525 for thﬁ 'andﬂwment of a bed in
memory of Sir Walter Buchanan Riddell, Bart,, comprised the whole
of the “ Extraordinary Income.” %

At the instigation of the Economie Lmurmtteaa searching inquiry
was made into the method of management of rl;he Home at the
commencement of the year, which resulted in cer ta.i_]l radical changes
in the domestic arrangements, by means of which the dost of provisions
for the year has been very substantially redueced.

The expenses under ** Domestic” have gone up, lar gBI on aceount
of the increased cost of coal. The total expenditure, it Is gratifying
to note, was less by £141 13s. 3d. than the year before. %)
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The excess of Expenditure over Income amounted to £2,285 10s. 6d.,
which had, as usual, to be met by a contribution from the General
Fund towards the maintenance of the Home.

During the year the Convalescent Home extended its heneﬁtﬁ t:}
1,104 patients—a record which proves how valuable an adjunect to the
Hnspmal it, has become,

On the advice of the Nursing Committee the term of trmumg of
Nurses has b(::i_.]!l extended from three to four years, and will include
in future a pegiod spent at the Convalescent HMome for the purpose of
gaining some knowledge of the care and management of p%tl&iﬂtﬂ
during their ﬂnn&gl&mcmce 1]

The Chaplain, in his report herewith submitted, deals comprehen-
sively with the work of administering the Samaritan Fund, and also
the distribution of ddles from the Dresden Assistance Fund.

On October 1st a l‘b'l‘amuria,l Window, placed in the Chapel to the
memory of the late Resident Medical Officer, Mr. Edward Ashby
Fardon, was unveiled by his sister, Mrs. Aston-Binns.

The Chapel has been further beauntified by the erection of a hand-
some Marble Balustrade to the Organ Loft, the cost of which has heen
defrayed by private subscription.

On December 16th a Sale of Work was opened in the Board Room
by the Countess Bathurst, and.about £100 was realised towards
the purchase of a new Organ, which it is the ambition of the Chaplain
and all others interested in the Chapel to see erected at an early date.

With a view to effecting further economies in the administration
of the Hozpital, the Kitchens of the Nursing Home and the Rési-
dential College have been amalgamated. The scheme, which involved
some slight structural alterations in the basement and a re-arrange-.
ment of the domestic staffs, will, it is confidently expected, result in a
considerable saving in the maintenance of the departments concerned.

In order to ensure that the benefits of the Hospital shall only be
extended to those applicants whose pecuniary civenmstances make it
impossible for them to seek advice from private medical men, an |
Inquil y Officer has been appointed, whose duties consist of
investigating any cases which give rise to grounds jm doubt as to
their eligibility for treatment

Your Board are at the present time considering t.he practicability
of arranging for the supply of pasteurised or other apecmli;( prepared
milk to children attending the Out-Patient Departmenty and to
infants whose mothers have been under the care of the
Department of the Hospital.

It is *with deep regret your Board have to record the dea
Sir Arthur Townley Watson, Bart.,, K.C,, who, during the
yvears he was actively associated with the administrative affairs o










. ANNUAL REPORT. 15

the Hospital, never failed to display the keenest: solicitude for its
welfare, and by his efforts materially advanced its prosperity.

In recognition of his services Sir Arthur had, shortly before his

th, been appointed a Viece-President of the Hospital,

As a mark of appreciation: of the great services he rendered the
Inat&tutmn throughout a period of upwards of twenty-two years,
Ht Burmughes, has, on ]113 retirement fmm the Weekly

It was with regret we accepted the resignation of Viscount Dun-
cannon, whose engagements on a Committee of the London County
Couneil precluded his: regular . attendance at the meetings of the
Board The vacayey thus created has been filled by the appointment
of Mr. 8. H, Whithpead, M.1.

This appointmentyis of peculiarly significant interest, inasmuch as
the family of ‘ﬁr‘hil_;hl‘égld has long been identified with the Hospital,
especially in. connection with the Cancer Charity, which owed its
foundaticon in ITQE-to.th&;}nuuiﬁcauce of one of its members,

It is with regret we fg}_l_uud ourselves called upon to aecept the
resignation, enforced through ill-health, of Mr. Andrew Clark, D.Sc.,
F.R.C.8., Senior Surgeon to the Hospital, and we desire to record our
high appreciation of the services he rendered both to the Ilospital and
to its Medical School throughont the thirty-six years he was a
member of the Honorary Staff.

It is with gratification your Board have learnt of the appointment
of Sir Richard Douglas Powell, Bart., M.D., Consulting Physician
to the Hospital, as Physician-in-Ordinary to His Majesty the King.

Sir Douglas Powell has also been re—plected President of the Royal
College of Physicians, and Mr. Henry Morris, Consulting Surgeon to
the  Hospital, has again been app-muted President of the Royal
College of Surgeons.

Mr, Jobhn Murray, F.R.C.3., Senior Surgeﬂn to Out-Patients, has
been elected a Surgeon to the Hospital, and My, W, Gordon Taylor,
M.A. » M8, M.B,, B.Sc,, F.R.C.S,, who succeeded the late Mr, E. A
l'a.t*(lun as Resldent Med:ml Officer, has been appmuted Assistant
Surgeon.

Mr. A. E. Johnson, M.B., Ch.B., F.R.C.8,, ha.s 1;-LEJ1 selected to
till the vacancy thus created in the nﬂice of Eemd&nt Medical Officer.

During the year many changes have occurred in the Nursing Staff
of the Hospital.
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H‘h Miss Victoria Daunt, Matron of the Great Northern Central
Hokpital, has been appointed Assistant Matron in succession to Miss
Bfaggret Pepper, who, owing to ill-health, was compelled to resign.
onsequence of the resignation of Miss Colvin, Miss Eleanor
Carlyle’Crowe, late Sister and Night Superinténdent at Worcester
(zeneral Infirmary, has been appointed Night Superintendent.

The vatancy created by the retirement of Miss A. K. Boldero
(Sister “ Queen ”) has been filled by the appointment of Miss Mary
Ward, formerly senior Sister at the South Devon and East Cornwall
Hospital, Plymauth.

Miss Eliza neis Uppleby has resigned her post of Sister of
Seymour and Northumberland Wards, which have been placed in the
charge of Miss Ada Peppler (Sister “ Founder ™), whilst Miss Anne
Vance, of Guys H"q:apltal has been entrusted with the ca.re of
* Founder ” and * Bla-:;-lmﬁ'shmm " Wards.

Miss Jessica Puilma,u Senior Sister in the Operating Theai;re, has
also resigned. \

Miss Annie Whitford and Miss Myra Jukes both retire on pensions,
the former after twenty-six years, and the latter after twenty-three
and a half years spent in the service of the Hospital. i

The limited &ccﬂmmﬂdatm}t\ff the Out-Patient Department has fnr
many years been a source of grave concern to your Board.

The difficalty has up to the ﬂrea&nt been insurmountable, because
no additional space for the extension of the premises has been
available, and the capacity of the department, although a much larger
number of patients are now treated there, is the same to-day as it was
twenty-two years ago. '%g ;

Owing to the fact that certain ground abutting on the Hmpltal
buildings in Union Street is now at ﬂur"‘dla}}uaal we realise that an
opportunity long desired is before us to El’f:ﬂt new buildings for the
whole of the special departments, leaving ’Lhe present Out-Patient
Department free for the treatment of mdmaﬁf medical and aurgleal
ASes, *

We have brought the matter before the Gnunﬂtl of King Edward’s
Hospital Fund for London and the Metropolitan, Hospital Eundaj'
Fund, with a view to obtaining from these bodms"?an expression of
opinion as to the advisability of embarking upon such &p undertaking.

Fully conscious though we are that the need for Enlargmg the
premises allotted to this branch of the Hospital's W&l:k is most
desirable, if not actually imperative, we would not feel justified in
appealing for funds for the purpose unless undoubted evidence were
forthcoming that the effort would meet with cordial approval and
strong support, as the present condition of the Hospital's ﬁnamual

resources render any capital outlay impossible.
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Lyell Medallist and Seholar, . { 3 fa BpPeriey. 4 g,

i Mr. G. N. Montgomery.
Leopold Hudson Prize .+ Mr. C. F. Robertson.

Mr. P. J. Chissell, : 4
et {3 WD, Frew, | 20
Gove Prize . : : . Mr. C, F. Robertson.

Freer lincas Scholar . : . Mr. A. L. H. Rackham.
Entrance cholars, 1906-7 :— :

A 744t By . . 'Mr. C. E. Thornton. :

ST VPRSI E 900, . Mr. W, Butterfield.
University Seholar . ; . Mr. W. M. Penny.

After six years’ tanure of the office of Dean of the Medical School Mr.

John Murray has resigned, his successor being Dr. Campbell Thomsen.

Dr. William Pasteur:has heen appointed Bradshaw Lecturer at the
Royal College of Physicra

Mr. W. Sampson Ha.tI Lley has, for the third time, been appﬂm't»ﬁd
a Hunterian Professor to &e Royal College of Surgeons ; a similar
distinction has also been conferred upon Dr. W. Victor Bonney.

At'the M.D. Examination held by the University of London, the
Gold Medal in Medicine was ‘qw.a,rded to Mr. F. . Thomson, a
student of the School.

Early in the year, acting upon a Tecommendation from the Couneil
of the Medical School and the advi-::(é“«.gf Mr. Foulerton, the Director
of the Clinical Laboratories, we gave lour sanction—subject to the
establishment of a Guarantee Fund of ht least £500 to cover any
possible loss which may oceur within thmnexb three }reama in con-
nection with the undertaking—to a scheme. for the extension of the
Clinical Investigation and Bactmmlc-gmal La‘]garatorlea attached to
the Hospital, in consequence of a most advantageous offer of the lease
of certain premises in Mortimer Street, in close proximity to the
Hospital, and already fitted up and equipped for research work of
this nature, having been made to us. %

In taking this step we were largely influenced by fffle evidence put
before us showing that no adequate provision existed in London for
qualified medical women to obtain teaching and preparation for the
Examinations for the Diploma in Public Health—a requisite qualifica-
tion for various appointments recently thrown epen to them in
connection with County Council Inspectorships under the new
Midwives’ Act, and in connection with medical inspection of public
elementary schouls ; also that the present staff attached to the Clinical
Laboratory was admittedly insufficient to allow of full advantage
being taken of the exceptional opportunities for research work shich
the large amount of material derived from the Wards affords.
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By the acquisition of this additional accommodation that portion
of the work which consists of investigating material for outside
general practitioners, and is remunerative, has been efficiently carried
out, under proper supervision, by the women students, who have thus
obtained the knowledge they required, whilst the regular staff of the
Laboratories have been left free to devote themselves almost entirely
to icular research work.

The full report of the Director of the Laboratories is appended.

o In pﬁ%eenting this statement of the manner in which the funds
entrusted 'to us have been expended, we feel it more than ever
incumbent upon us to express the growing diffidence with which we
contemplate the financial future of the Hospital,

Though the deficit with which the year's working was completed

was less than we expected, satisfaction thereat is largely discounted by
uneasiness derived from the knowledge that greater efforts have been
necessary to produce even this result.
- Moreover, an analysis of the sources of income reveals the dis-
quieting fact that little or no success attends the repeated appeals to
that section of the gemeral public on whose gratitude the Hospital
should be able with confidence to rely.

‘When we consider the incalculable benefits which this and other
Hospitals confer upon the public, not only by services rendered to the
indigent, but also by the protection afforded to the community as a
whole in restrieting the dissemination of disease in all its varied forms,
we are of opinion that liberal :w_«fip;:»c:url:T prompted alike by charitable
instinet and grateful appreciation, should be readily fortheoming.

Could the public but be brought to a fuller comprehension of the
ethics of their relationship to Hospitals, then we are convinced that
such a measure of spontaneous and generous assistance would be
accorded as to lessen, if not entirely to remowve, those difficulties with
which we now, unfortunately, have to contend.

We have the honour to he,-
Ladies and Gentlemen,
Your most obedient Servants,

CHEYLESMORE, Chairman.

G. J. MARJORIBANKS,
WALTER ROTHSCHILD, ; Treasurers,
C. H. BURNAND,

Boarp Room, Tae MipprLesex HospiTaL,
- 20th February, 1908,
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Your Board have had to consider in what manner the wishes of
the late Mrs. Lewis-Hill could best be carried out with regard to the :
endowment of a Cancér Ward in memory of the late Mr. Samuel

;'_ Lewis, for which purpose she bequeathed to the Hospital the sum of

'£5,000, part payment of which has already been made by the

Executors.

A scheme was prepared for the conversion of a day-room on the
second floor of the Cancer Wing into a Ward for the accommodation
of two female patients, the details of which met with the entire
approval of the Executors, one of whom, Mr. Henry Davies, generously
undertook to defray the cost of the structural alterations involved
and the necessary equipment of the Ward, as a tribute to the memory
of his mother, the late Mrs, Sarah Davies.

No time was lost in carrying out this change, and the Ward is
now completely fitted up and occupied.

In thei'ijl anxiety for the proper and efficient discharge of their
obligations ‘to the Cancer Charity and its adjunct, the Cancer
Research Department, your Board propose to convene a special
Committee, composed of those whose sympathies with the aspirations
of the founders of the Charity are pronounced and well established.

This Committee will devote the whole of its energies to an
endeavour, firstly, to procure the complete endowment of the Cancer
Wing, and, secondly) to ensure that the important work of investiga-
tion carried out by the Director of Cancer Research shall in nowise be
impeded by pecuniary gonsiderations.

Dr. W. 8. Lazarus-Barlow has been re-appointed Director of the
Research Laboratories.

The *Richard Hollins? Scholarship for Research work was
awarded to Mr. L, L’Ia.']ut't:a.-.LrlE.’tgA M.A., B.C, and the “ Walter Emden”
Scholarship to Mr. W. Victor Bonney, M.S,, M.D.

Dr. Archibald Leitch, the third Assistant in the Laboratories, has
been appointed Investigator on ancer at Dundee,

Some idea of the value of theiwork performed in the Research
Department may be derived from 1,]1& following reference made by
The Medical Magazine in a three- page eritique of the last volume of
the Reports which are periodically 133111& from the Laboratories :—

“The investigations are not Dn]}r f high intrinsic merit but
proceed on somewhat new lines, indicating originality of conception
and a grasp of those physical sciences E‘hmh are becﬂmmg more
closely related to pathology and pathu]ugmal science,”

1‘-
?
i



To the Cﬁﬁg'man of tfm Oﬂzmmf of ﬂw Middlesex Hﬂspsfa!
Medical School.

'h Y i
Tur amount of Hgspital work done in the Laboratories increased
somewhat during tﬁﬁ, year, chiefly in conneetion with the preparation
of vaceines and the ﬁxamma,twn of the blood for the purpus-es of
* Opsonic " treatment. (t.

There has also been ‘!;n inerease in the amount of wnrk done for
medical practitioners nut.s'i‘da the Hospital, but a good propertion of
this work has been transfeyred to the new Women's Laboratory in
order to relieve the Clinical Laboratory, and so facilitate the carrying
out of the proper Hospital work.

Only one medical practitioner has taken out the Course of
Instruction for the Diploma in Public Health during the year; and
it has to be mentioned that the mumber of medical men presenting
themselves for this examination has shown a marked tendency to
diminish during the last few yearsy; owing partly to an increased
stringency of the examination and partly to alteration in the
curriculum of work. % '

The new Department for Women ha maﬁa a fair start, a.ﬂti six
medical women entered for various cou of instruction during the
year, Of these, one passed the examinationifor the Diploma in Public
Health at Cambridge in October, another will go np for the same
examination next April, and two others have @rzmgad to take out the
full course of work for the examination next Séptember. {

Whilst the number of medical men presenting themselves fﬂr the
Diploma in Public Health has shown a tenden gy to diminish the
opposite holds good for medical women. During the next few years
medical women who
hold the Diploma in Public Health in connection with the medical
inspection of children in the elementary schools under the Education
(Administrative Provisions) Act, 1907. The Board of Education, in
their Memorandum of last Autumn as to the methods of carrying out
this medical inspection, emphasised the suitability for thé work of
medical women possessed of the gualification in Public Healt
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considerable amount of research work has been in progress
durin$ the year, but very little of it has been published yet. Several
of the researches conducted during 1907 are now either completed or
approaching completion, and several papers recording the results will
ished from the Department during the next few months. The

Mr. MacCormac and myself, and is going through

(iii.) Mr. MacCotmac, in conjunction with Dr., Kellas, is carrying
out an important investigation into certain chemical changes
which occur in the tissues in the course of pneumonia.

(iv.) Mr. MacCormaciis collaborating with myself in an investi-
gation concerned %, with the treatment of pneumonia by
“Opsonic ” met]m_‘ which has been suggested by and is
being assisted by Sipk Richard Douglas Powell, President of
the Royal College of sicians,

(v.) Miss Whittingham and myself are carrying out an investigation
into the ecanses of the e:;:{%ajva mortality from pneumonia and
broneho-pneumonia amongst young children,

(vi.) Miss Whittingham and fﬁ_ self are also énga,ged in an
investigation into the occurrence of outbreaks of diphtheria

amongst school children, and*%&he method of dealing with
them. )

The above matters represent a cﬂnz.;.i{]erahle amount of work,
which will require prolonged investigation,’and I am glad to be able
to say that good progress is being made in several directions.

- With regard to the assistance in earryinl'g on the work of the
Department which I have received from my colleagues, Mr, Hillier
and Mr. MacCormac, I can only repeat what I l‘hq.id last year as to
the unselfish way in which they have both worked to promote the
efficiency of the Department. "‘u.k

Miss Whittingham in the new Laboratory in Mortimer Street has
also done her utmost to make that Department a success. She has

-managed the Laboratory in a thoroughly capable way, and has given
every possible assistance in the teaching and research work which is
being carried on there,

ALEXANDER G. R. FOULERTON,
Director.
5th February, 1908,
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APPENDIX C. G\"(‘

A\THE CHAPLAIN'S REPORT.

' Nhe Weekly Board of Ilflw?r:ﬂ,fﬂut;l;r'1t
Tris Sixth Annual Réport is made at the beginning

complete, and the debt

was ineurred in carrying out the
scheme has been entirely paid. The furniture of the Sacrarium
has been improved by the substitution in one detail of marble
for wood. ® Five Stained (ilass Windows have been erected, and an
Alabaster and Marble Parapet hag been added to the Organ Loft.
These things have been accomplishéd by the munificence of private
benefactors, and by ecollections promoted by nurses and patients,
and also by other means. To buy a new Organ is the one thing
of great importance which remains t& be done. To obtain one
» of a quality worthy of the Chapel we shall probably have to pay
abnut £330, and towards this sum we hdge already collected and
have in hand over £180. The present -u':g__ therefore, for all
who are interested in the Chapel is to seelthe balance of £150.
It would be splendid if some generous Benefactpr would give us this
sum. We have collected so much in small sums, and finally taxed so
greatly the resources of our friends, the nurses andjpatients, past and
present, and others, when we held a Sale of Work in December last,
that it is undesirable to begin again at once to issue afresh appeal to
the same Helpers. It is hoped that the wider circulation of the
appeal in the Annual Report will bring the help we nee s

The estimate of £330 represents a better Organ that
considerable sum suggests, and for this reason :— i

The eminent firm of builders whom we have consultedi have in
the estimate allowed for the use of the whole of the pipes; of the
instrument at preaent. in use, because although these pipes are old
and need re-voicing they are good, and their inclusion w

represent an advantage of about £40, \;

even that
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It is most important that the Organ should not obstruct more of
the Organ Loft than is absolutely necessary, and therefore it is
proposed that the front part of it overlooking the Nave should, as
far &q possible, be left free and available for the choristers, and this
can be done by “elevating” the Organ and having a detached
E;GIISDIE.?}.-& plan which, of course, adds to the cost of erection.

In las?‘l;._ yvear's Report much emphaam was laid upon the importance
of securing help in singing the musical parts of the Services in the
Chapel, and ' certain difficulties were pointed out. These have been
overcome, and now, under the most efficient direction of Mr. F. H.
Stamper, the ffi:gamat who succeeded Mr. Spanswick, who resigned
the post in June last after very many years of strenuous service, we
are now able to sing Evensong every Sunday, and to have the
assistance of a choir on certain other oeccasions also. 1t is unnecessary
to submit to the Board a further account of the Services held week by
week in the Chapel and Wards of the Hospital. There has beea no
break in the continuity which has been established for some years.

There is one thing which may be recorded in this Report—that is,
the starting of a Guild, named the “ Guild of Perseverance,” which is
limited to men who have 'been In-patients of the HOEPIt&l and who
are over twenty years of age,

The Guild is only at the very beginning, but it appears to hﬁ_
working in the right direction.

Turning from these matters ﬁ:g_the administration of the Samaritan
Fund and the Dresden Assistancé: Fund, it is sufficient to say, with
regard to the first, that the remarks made about it in the Report last
vear hold good, and need not be repeated here. Tt continues to fulfil
its important function, and is the only Fund from which we can help
deserving cases which cannot be dealt with by less elastic agencies.

The Dresden Assistance Fund has assisted in various ways about
1,000 patients during the year 1907. In the Report of last year it

was shown with some detail how this Fund is used, and it is
sufficient now to say that it continues to be a,p%,hed in the same way.
An account iz kept week by week of the names of the patients
benefited, and all other particulars of its &dmﬁ!;mbratmn, and the
books, ete.. recording these things are at the mnstal‘qt disposal of the
Trustees of the Fund. 4~

No official records can exhaust all the directions ni'lrwhtch we are
able to help patients upon their discharge from the H08p:bal ‘and
even long after their discharge. Help of many kinds is procured for
patients by bringing them into contact with one or more of the very
many Charitable and other Agencies which specialise the many kinds
of help. In this way we are able to assist both In-patients and
Out-patients who are deserving. Sometimes it is a question of
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the Hospital into a Lying-in Institution, a proposal favoured by the President
and other officials, was only frustrated by a compromise. Tt was resolved
that 10 Beds should in future be assigned to the Sick and Lame, 10 to
Lying-in Women, and 4 to Cases of Accident. The crisis led to numerous
resignations, including that of the President, who was succeeded by Huen,
Eary (ufterwards Dvxe) or Nowrnvuseruanp. It is gratifying to record
that this office has from that time always been filled by the head of the Noble
House of Percy, whose members have been amongst the most generous and
zealous supporters of the Hospital.

In 1750 the number of Beds was increased to 40, but the Juctunmudmus
and inadequate character of the Windmill E:tr#et premises, particularly
shown in the growing claims of the Maternity Department, caused the
Governors to appeal for Subscriptions to a Building Fund. At length they
were in a position to carry out the scheme which had been long in view. A
convenient site in the locality was selected in the Marylebone Fields, and a
lease of the same having been obtained from Cwarres Beryens, Esq., for the
term of 999 years at a Ground Rent of £15 per annum, the Building was
commenced after the design of J. Parsg, Esq., Architect. The contract for
its erection was £2,250. On the 15th of May, 1755, the first stone was laid
by the Eari or NorTHUMBERLAND, to whose unwearied exertions and
personal influence the accomplishment of this great object iz principally to
be ascribed. The following contemporary account of the proceedings is
taken from the monthly chronicle of events in the Gentlewan's Hﬂgﬂzﬂw
for June, 1755 :— .

Thursday, 15. The anniverfary fermon n::rl' the AMiddiefexr hofpital was
preached at St. Anne’s church, Weftminfter, by the rev. Dr. Nichols, rector of
the Temple. After divine [ervice the right hon. the E. of Northumberland,
prefident, Sir W, Beaucham Procter, Bart.,, and Col. Cornwallis, vice-
prefidents, with the [tewards and governors, walked from the church to the
ground appointed for erecting the new building for the Middiefex holpital in
Marybon field, where the president, affilted by the two viee-prefidents, laid
the firft ftone. They returned to the great concert room in Dean-ftreet, where,
at the chamber door, the collection amounted to 4000 Sir Wm. Beauchamp
Procter gave 1001,

A picture by Ronerr Epcr Pine, representing the ceremony of laying the
foundation-stone, was placed in the Board Room in 1768, where it still
remains.

LI,

The history of the Institution in the century and a half that has elapsed
since its first stone was laid can almost be followed in a simple recital of the
changes wrought in its fabric, indicative as these are of unwearied endeavour
to keep the Hospital abreast of every advance made in the care of the sick
and the treatment of disease. It may even be gaid that the gradual growth
of this building, and its eventual and well-nigh entire internal reconstruetion,












Eiforts to
restore i
prosperity
—Lord
Robert
Seymonr.

wpenlug

a.m:l opening
of New
Wards, 1811
to 1824,

Extension
of the
Wingea,
18%4-5.

144 THE MIDDLESEX HOSPITAL.

the following passage, from a report made to the Governors in 1800 by the
Resident Apotheeary. It runs: “In June 1793 two Wards were opened for
the reception of French Emigrants, of whom 301 Priests and 120 Laity have
been admitted ; of this number, 83 Clergy and 36 Laity have died, 311
discharged cured, excepting 21 now in the house, of whom only seven have
Medical attendance, the rest being in the Hospital for support and main- -
tenance only.” When, in 1814, after a long period of exile, permission was
at length given them to return to their own country, those who survived
availed themselves of the privilege and took their departure, expressing
areat and lasting gratitude for the quietude and comforts they had ﬂllJﬂTBd
for twenty-one years,

It was some time before the Hospital surmounted the ﬁmm,ml m.mt.gm
which it found itself. During the first decade of the mineteenth century
meny appeals were made to the public, and the strictest economy had to be
practised, for, owing to the war, the nise in price of bread and other
necessaries could not but be felt. Indeed, the allowance of bread, as
well as other articles of food, and even medicines, had to be aever&ly
curtailed.

The merit of having retrieved the Establishment from almost complete
ruin is pre-eminently due to the late Lorp Roserr SeyMovr, whose memory
must always be dear to The Middlesex Hospital. With a most earnest
desire to see it resume its former useful position, he interested himself in its
behalf, and by his personal influence prevailed on a great number of the
Nobility, Clergy, and Gentry to join in the good canse. He it was who
obtained for the Hospital the Patronage of the Priver Recuxt, afterwards
Kixe Grorer Tk Fovrth, whose example was followed by Kive Witriam
tHE Fourth, and her late Majesty Quees Vicroria. Our present gracious
Kive has likewise condescended to declare himself the Parmox of The
Middlesex Hospital, and to assist it with his annual bounty.

These efforts, which included a Concert in the King's Theatre, realizing a
large sum, and also a Public Meeting at the Argyll Rooms, resulted ina
reopening of Wards, one of which was named “Seyyouvr,” after the noble
benefactor, and was assigned to cases of Accidents. In 1819 the
“ NorrnuvMmperraxp” Ward was opened, by which time the total number
of beds had reached 179. In 1820 *Hzrrrornp” Ward was opened, and
four wears later four other Wards, increasing the accommodation to 200
l'.?lﬂl"’ s IR s

In the year 1834 the Governors decided to enlarge the bmldmg, two most
extensive parishes, St. Marvlebone and 8t. Pancras, having grown up about
it. The accommodation for In-Patients had become quite disproportionate to
the number of applicants, and much difficulty was often found in distri-
buting them, particularly in cases requiring more complete seclusion than
could be obtained in the General Wards. Trusting to the liberality which
had hitherto supported the Institution, it was proposed to extend each Wing
of the Hospital thirty feet towards the street.  The alterations thus
proposed were satisfactorily accomplished, and the appearance of the
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with the result of showing that even an old building can be- mndareni a8
hygienically perfect as one n&wl'_r,r planned on the most modern system. :
%ﬂhgif;: in  In 1849 Cholera broke out in London, and 60 cases of the disease were
Cases admitted into the Wards which were set apart for the purpose. In dumg 50
tﬁt\ﬁgﬂg the anthorities of the Hospital reversed the policy of their predecessors whu,
1849 and " in the epidemie of 1834, declined to receive such cases. A much greater
i strain upon the resources of the Hospital was imposed by the memorable
visitation of Cholera in 1854, one of the centres of the epidemic being the
Golden Square district, owing, as was supposed, to the contamination of the
water furnished by the notorious Broad Street pump. The Middlesex
Hospital being in the vieinity received as many as 231 cases from July to
November, no fewer than 152 seeking admission during the first two weeks
of September. There were in addition 47 cases of Choleraic Diarrheea. Of the
Cholera patients 123 died, a fatality rate of 53'2 per cent., one of the victims
being o Nurse of the Hospital, who together with another Nurse and a
maid-servant were the only instances which arose within the building itself.
A detailed aceount of the experience of the Hospital in respeet to all the
cases treated in it was drawn up by Mr. S, W. SBierey, the Registrar, and
. published by the anthority of the Weekly Board.
Extension In the year 1859 the Authorities acquired some premises in Charles Street,
ﬁﬂﬂ; adjoining the East Wing, and were enabled thereby to extend the accommo-
g:iﬁ'aﬁﬂ. dation for Out-Patients, who were becoming very numerous.

Althongh reference will be specially made to the Nursing Depaitment on

another page, it may here be mentioned that during the sixties attention
Further  Was directed to its improvement and organization. This culminated in' the
fnx;ﬁf‘;lm opening of the Nursing Home in Cleveland Street in 1869, 'whiqh wias
provements further extended in 1878, when by a reconstruction of the buildings two
%iﬁg‘ft special Wards were made connected with the East Wing. Each of these
1878-. Wards were subdivided into two parts holding two beds each. The one
was named “Bexrtinex” after a munificent benefactress, Miss A. TH.
CavespisE-Bextinek, the other “ De Moreax ™ after the late Mr. Caxrrein
D Moreax, the Senior Surgeon to the Hospital, whose death in 1876 had
been widely and deeply lamented. At the same time accommodation was
provided for the Registrars on the ground floor of the extended Wing.

In 1879 a Hydraulic Lift was constructed in the East Wing, giving access
from the basement to each of the floors of the building, and greatly
facilitating the conveyance of Patients to and from the Operating Theatre,
besides being of great service to the general work of the Hospital.

Ward By the substitution of teak for soft wood flooring in four of the Surgical
fn”;mj'f' Wards another advance was made in ward sanitation This costly improve-
ment, which took place in 1883, was made on the initiative of the late Mr.
Gironrcr Lawsox, Surgeon to the Hospital, into whose hands a large sum of
money had been entrnsted by the executors of the late Joux Bizo, Esq.
The alteration was found to be g0 eminently satisfactory that subsequently
the Governors undertook the flooring of all the Wards with the same

material, the heavy expense incurred being amply justified by the great
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In 1891 Electric Lighting was installed throughout the Hogpital Building,
entirely replacing gas for illuminating purposes, though the latter is still
emploved in the kitchen for cooking. ;

The conversion of rooms on the third floor, hitherto assigned to members
of the Resident Staff, into a Children’s Ward took place in 1892, and’
supplied what had come to be felt as a deficiency in the fmurcea of the
establishment.

The next improvement taken in hand was the entire reconstruction of the
Operating Theatre, which, when the Medical School was established in’
1835, had been removed from its original position on the upper floor of the
West Wing to the ground floor adjacent to the Aecident Ward (now the
“ Broperir” Ward). Here it remained unaltered until 1894, when it was’
demolished and a new and more spacious Theatre was erecfed on the most
approved principles. This building eomprises a large Theatre capable of'
seating about 130 students, a small Theatre for special operations, and rooms’
for the administration of anmsthetics and for the recovery of Patients, all’
being very effectively lit by Electric Light and ventilated by a special appa-
ratus in the basement. An entirely new set of Instruments and Appliances
was provided, and po effort was spared to render the Theatre one of the'
most convenient and best equipped of ite kind. It was opened for use in |
1895,

As evidence of the remarkable zeal with which the Governors were at this
time imbued in their endeavours to do all that was possible to increase the
usefulness of the Institution, it may be mentioned that in the following yvear'
the Convalescent Home at Clacton was opened, and in 1897 was laid the
foundation-stone of the new Cancer Wing, to both of which impi:irfsnt'
annexes we shall again refer.

Nor does this complete the tale of structural improvements which have’
been effected in the Hospital fabric itself. TIn 1901 it was decided to remove
the Laundry from the position it had long oeceupied in the basement of thﬁ”l
North-East Wing to a site which had been procured at Hendon. Here a
Laundry, fully furnished with all modern’ appliances, was erected. It 18"
maintained in daily connection with the Hospital by means of a steam motor
waggon. The part of the Hospital building thus set free has been utilized
for an extension of the boiler service, which is applied to the heating of the
Hospital and School, and for the construction of disinfecting chambers, cold’
storage rooms, and other needful objects. At the same time this Wing was
extended so as materially to enlarge the three Female Wards, *‘Birn,”
“ Henesna,” and “Seymovr,” whilst to the uppermost floor were transferred
the kitchens and offices from the basement of the central block, displacing’
two Wards, “ Hawkins " and “ Prupwor.” Lastly, with the opening of the'
New Cancer Wing, two of the three Wards, which had for at' least half a
century been the home of Patients on that foundation, were assigned to if.h‘h”
cases of Diseases of Women (“ Prupnor® ‘Ward), and in 1902 a Special
Operating Theatre was constructed on the site of the third 'Ward for the
sole use of that department.
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There are many minor improvements, both in respect to construetion and
rearrangement, which have from time to time been made, that need not be
dwelt on here, Suffice it to say that during its 150 years of existence The
Middlesex Hospital has demonstrated the practicability of an institution
being modified and expanded in accordance with the demands of advaneing
knowledge and experience. It has thus undergone a process of evolution
without anv resort to the wholesale destruction so often deemed to be
necessary in adapting old buildings to modern needs. It says something for
the simplicity as well as' for the stability of Mr. Pamne's design that the
structure he planned should have been capable of the transformation' it has
experienced without interference with its external walls. To be sure there
has been some expansion since the Duvkr or Norrnusmuernann's foundation
in'1755 in order to meet the needs of an increasing population, for'a build-
ing which originally stood on the outskirts of the town is now buried in the
heart of a densely peopled community. But the Hospital buildings, which
now form a compact rectangle, still enclose a fairly spacious and shady
Garden, which affords both a pleasant outlook from the windows of the
Wards and also a grateful retreat in summer, where Patients and Nurses
can enjoy fresh air and change of scene without quitting the Hospital
premises. It may be recalled that this “ garden ™ was first laid out in 1769,
when it was hoped that it would yield sufficient vegetable produce for the
Hospital dietary. This hope not being fulfilled, it was later converted into
a' botanie garden and’ chiefly stocked with medicinal plants, grass plots
being also laid down and poplars planted. This was in 17835, in which year
the aeronaut Leonardi sought but failed to obtain permission to use it as a
starting-place for his balloon. For many years a local flower show was
held in it, whilst its snitability for evening féfes has been proved on several
oceasions, the last being in' connection with the celebration of the opening
of the Convalescent Home in 1896.

111,

The disadvantage of not possessing a CHARTER or Act or INCORPORATION
had on several occasions been experienced, and it was therefore snggested
that application should be made to Parliament to obviate this inconvenience.
In the year 1836 facilities for obtaining this desirable character of légal
perpetuity were afforded by the cireumstance of Mr., WiLriam Tooks, the
Honorary Solicitor of the Hospital, being then Member of Parliament for
Truro, and he, with great readiness and liberality, undertook the task of
conducting through Parliament an Act' of Incorporation. His kind endea-
vours were successful ; and, on the 30th of March 1836, “Tur PrestpENT,
Vice-Presipents, TrEASURERS, AND Goverzors oF Tue MippLesex Hos-
prraL” were declared by Act of Parliament to be one body politic and
corporate, and by that name to have perpetual succession and a common
seal, with such other privileges as are usually granted under similar ciroum-
stances. dnd.they ave enabled; without incurring the penalties or: forfeitwres of

all
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the Statutes of Mortinain, to hold and retain the Hospital and Premises for the

vesidue of a tevm of 999 years, ereated by a lease under which the Hospital

preinises ave held ; and, by will, gift, purchase, or otherwise, to obtain, aequire,
hold and retain, as well the inkeritance in. fee-simple of the said Hospital and
prewises, as also any other lands either in fee or for terms for life or years, so as
not to exceed (exclusive of the Hospital and money invested in mﬂrtyayc) the elear
¥RARLY value of £10,000,

The Hospital is also anthorized, by will, gist, purchase, or othemna, to m!ufmn
wequire, hold, and retain any monies and personal estate seewred on mﬂm&
vharged on land,

The power to hold land has been of great service to f.]:ua Insht.uhﬂn, n.m:l
in the year 1890 a bequest, which had been withheld by the Executors
under the impression that the Hospital was debarred by Statute of Mort-

main from receiving it, was fully recoversd with the' interest a-ccmaﬂ
thereon. i

IV.

So far only leading events in the history of the Hospital, and changes
that have taken place in the Main Building have been referred to, but these
by no means exhaust all that must be mentioned in order to give an
accurate idea of the work that has been and is being done there. In the
first place attention may be directed to its special departments, which form
such important features of its work.

The first of these to be established was the Midwifery ]Japarhnﬁnﬁ. It.

may be recalled that within a few years of the foundation of the Hospital it
was resolved to apportion some beds to cases of Deserving Married Women
during their confinements ; and it has been seen how narrowly the Hospital
escaped being wholly converted to this branch of philanthropic relief. To
be sure, at the present day it would be deemed not only incongruous but
worse than foolish to harbour under the same roof persons so susceptible to
septic infeetion, and those suffering from Surgical injuries and diseases, or
even contagious fevers. But in the eighteenth century such considerations,

even if present to their minds, were not permitted to weigh with the

Founders to thwart their laudable desire to extend the benefits of the
Hospital where they were much needed and appreciated; added to which
this special branch of the Charity was so consonant with the best feelings
of the Governors, especially of the Ladies, who had always taken a very
warm interest in The Middlesex Hospital, as to occasion great unwillingness
to give up the Liying-in Wards. That change, however, had to be’ Bventnally
made, as the following brief chronicle shows :—

In 1763 we find Dr. Thomas Cooper, who had been elected “p_]:nyéininh'
man-midwife,” initiating the system of attending a certain number of cases at

their own homes, the number of recommendations being such as to cause the
Board to ‘“be under the disagreeable necessity of refusing many objects for
want of room.” In 1773 it was resolved to apply for a licence for the Hospital

e .
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‘* purswant to the direction of the Act of Parliament,” entitled “*An Act for

the better regulation of Lying-in Hospitals,” an evidence of the estimation in

which the Governors held this part of the Hospital's work. However, the

impoverizshed state of finances compelled the authorities to reduce this establish-

ment, and to limit the number of beds to six, whilst two years later it was

resolved to appeint a certain number of midwives to attend cases “‘at their

own habitations,” under the supervision of the ‘‘ physician man-midwife,” who
~ was granted the sum of five shillings per case *‘to defray the charge of

" midwife, coach hire, and other individual expenses.” In 1786 it was thought

that if no cases at all were admitted the expense would be reduced, but a trial

of this proving unsatisfactory, it was decided to return to the practice of

admitting patients, the number, however, being reduced to two. It was not

until 1807 that the midwifery in-patients were finally done away with, and a

few years later Dr. Merriman, who held office from 1808 to 1826, introduced

the plan of employing the pupils of the Hospital to attend cases at the option

of the patients, ‘‘who, if they prefer a midwife, a pupil is never pressed

upon them.” Dr. Merriman published annual reports of his department, from

which it will be seen how rapidly it grew. The number of deliveries in 1814

was 64, in 1824 374.—From *‘ The Middlesex Hospital Journal,” vel. ii., p. 105.

In the year 1884 a suggestion was made by the Obstetric Physician that Office of
the employment of Midwives should be dispensed with, and that all baorn
Maternity cases should be attended by Students, under proper supervision. ;"mﬁ&da
This scheme was carried into effect, and these cases are now entrusted to
duly appointed * Extern Clerks,” uhder the supervision of the gqualified

Medical Officers of the Department.

V.

A special and in some respects a unique feature of The Middlesex Foundation

Hospital is the Cancer Charity, which was established in 1792 under the HE%E;?; 'f
following interesting circumstances. In the previous year Mr. Jonx h;’ ‘:Elln‘cnd
Howanp, surgeon, of Argyll Street, addressed a letter to the Weekly Board 1"9-'-' i
of Governors offering, on behalf of a gentleman who wished to remain
anonymous, to defray the cost of fitting up a Ward for the admission of
Patients afflicted with cancer. The objects of the donor were set forth in
this communication as twoleld in scope—namely, in the first place, to give
relief to a most deserving class of sufferers, and secondly, to afford oppor-
tunity for the study and investigation of a disease which was as obscure in 4
its origin as it was fatal in its effects. The offer was accepted, and the
unknown benefactor undertook to fit upa Ward for the reception of these
cases, as well as to settle the interest of £4,000 Three per Cent. Consolidated
Bank Annuities for ever by way of endowment of the Cancer Establishment.
The death of Samver Wmirsreanp, Esq., in 1796 made known the secret
that he was the munificent benefactor whose name had been so far
concealed, and it was by his expressed wish that his son (Samver War-
BrEAD, some time M.F. for Bedford) was appointed a trustee of the fund of
. the Charity, in which he throughout continued to take a keen interest, It
M
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may be added that in 1797 Mr. Howarp was requested to act as Surgeon to
the Department, an office he held until his death in 1811, leaving behind
him a record of his clinical experiences which was afterwards published.
From that time the Wards have been mostly in the charge of the Surgeons
of the Hospital.

Sinee then the Cancer Fund has been augmented by numerous other
Donations and Bequests, notably by a Legacy bequeathed by Mrs.
Aviriea Manria Stavrorp in 1815 ; and in 1854 by a bequest of Siz Josern
pE Courcy Larran, Bamr., M.D. It is interesting that in her will Mrs,
Stafford expressly states that she made her bequest in the hope of its aiding
in “euring persons afflicted with cancer and of investigating and pramoting ouy
general knowledge o f treating that dreadful disorder,” objects practically identical
with those that the Founder of the Charity had in mind.

These further endowments enabled the Governors to appropriate three
Wards, namely, “ WaiTerEAD ™ * Starrorn,”” and “ Larraw,” exclusively to
females suffering from cancer, besides providing accommodation for men
suffering from the same disease, a few beds being set apart in one of the
Surgical Wards for this purpose. Here the vietims of this almost hopeless
malady find a permanent refuge, where everything that human skill and
kindness can effect is provided for the cure of their disease, or at least for
the alleviation of their sufferings.

The Founders of the Cancer Establishment, actuated by a wise benevo-
lence, determined that this refuge shotild be permanent, by directing that
the Patients might remain until “ relieved by art, or released by death.”
No one who has interested himself in the unhappy lot of the Patients in
these Wards, being forty-five in number, can have failed to observe how
greatly their mental suffering is mitigated by the knowledge that they have
here offered to them, if they so desire it, a peaceful and permanent refuge
for the remainder of their existence. In it they are exempted from the
anxious cares of providing for the daily wants of life, as well as from the
sad necessity of repeated solicitations for another and another refuge, as the
term for which they can be received into other Hospitals from time to time
approaches to its close. i

In the year 1886 the question, which had long been engaging the atten-
tion of the Governors, how to provide accommodation for the Male Cancer
Patients, was solved by the appropriation of “Hawper” Ward to the
purpose. This Ward was entirely remodelled and renamed. A partition
was made so as to give space for nine beds and to provide a sitfing-room in
which these Patients might spend the daytime and enjoy the privilege of
gmoking.

A large bow-window was opened in the north wall, overlooking the
garden, which gave the room a bright and home-like appearance. It had
long been a wish that a Ward should be called after the eminent Physician
Dr. E. H. Greexuow, who had taken an active and zealous part in the
promotion of the scheme, and finally that gentleman’s seruples were
overcome, and the double Ward was named “Greensow ™ Ward,









A SHORT HISTORY, 153

In 1893 the important step was taken with a view to move the Female
Cancer Establishment to a separate building entirely devoted to the
treatment of that disease. It was considered that the removal of these
incurable cases from under the roof of the Hospital would be for their
benefit in respect of health, comfort, and convenience, while the space thus
set free would be available for other purposes. The generous offer by
Mr. C. H. Bernggs of a seventy years' lease of some property in Nassau and
Union Streets adjacent to the Hospital at a low rental was accepted, and it
was decided to utilize the site for the erection of a block of Female
Cancer Wards.

In support of this project a Festival Dinner was held in 1894 under the
special patronage of Her tate Masesty Quees Vicroria, at which H.R.H.
TuE Prixce oF WaLes (now H.M. Kine Epwasp VIL) presided, and was
supported by numerous Governors and Friends of the Hospital. His
Royal Highness made a strong appeal on behalf of the Special Fund for
building the New Cancer Wing, with the result that over £9,300 was
subscribed.

The foundation stome of the new building was laid with appropriate
ceremony on 1ith July, 1897, by H.R.H. TrE Prixcrss CHRISTIAN, and on
1st January, 1900, the Female Cancer Patients were transferred from the old
- Wards to the ecommodious and well-equipped  establishment in Nassau
Street. It contains three Wards (bearing the original names) of twelve
beds each, and two smaller Wards of two beds each, together with a small
operating room for emergencies. There are also a large day-room for the
use of patients not confined to bed, administrative offices, nurses’ rooms, and
kitchen. It is thus quite self-contained, having its own Nursing Staff,
«controlled by a Resident Matron, subject to the anthority of the central
administration, and a Medical Officer whose sole duty is the care of the
Patients in this Wing, for which he also acts as Registrar,

Althoungh in accordance with the trust there have from time to time ever
#ince its earliest days been investigations into suggested (and occasionally
very fanciful) methods of the treatment of Cancer, it has been left for these
latter days to see the inauguration of a scheme for systematic inquiry into
the nature of the disease, which was obviously one of the objects that the
founder of the Charity had in view. The enlargement of the building
afforded an opportunity to remedy this defect, for it was well recognised by
the Governors that an Institution such as they had established offered
inestimable advantages for such systematic study, both clinical and
pathological. A Cancer Investigation Committee was formed, and a
Research Laboratory instituted, of which Mr. A. G. R, FovLerrox was
appointed the first Director. T'o him and to his successor in that office,
Dr. Lazanvs Banrvow, together with the band of zealous workers who have
been engaged in these laboratories, are owing the already published four
volumes of Reports containing memoirs and records of considerable interest
and value, which have more than justified the foundation of this Research
- Department, and which are full of promise for the future,
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IX.

Origin o “ifml The part taken by a Hospital such as this in Medical Education has now
School. to be considered, whereby it confers a special boon on Society, and in order
- to clearly describe the evolution of the Medical School of The Middlesex
Hospital it will be necessary to glance back at its early history. -
For almost from the very first it would appear that the Physician or
Surgeon was entitled to introduce pupils to follow his practice in the Wards.
Such pupils selected the “clinique ” they wished to attend for six months or
a year, the fees going to the Physician or Surgeon concerned. There were
also * apprentices ”’ and “ dressers.”
The In 1774 the Students of the Hospital formed themseives into a Medical
gﬂ;‘%ﬂ}_ Society, and were permitted the use of the “ Physicians’ room to meet on two
nights a week on condition that they should pay to the treasurer three
guineas per quarter for the benefit of the charity,” to which proposal the
Quarterly Court agreed, with the proviso “ That the Society would be at the
expense of their own candles.” It may be added that the Society, which
still flourishes, celebrated its centenary in 1874, Mr. AxpreEw CLark, being
then its President.
The Students, besides going round the Wards at other times, received
instruction from the Apothecary and attended the operations and clinical
lectures. These latter were instituted when the new building was opened in
1757 by Dr. Huen Sumrrn, one of the Physicians, whose application was met
by the Wuarterly Court resolving ** That the Physicians and Surgeons of
this Hospital have liberty to read lectures on physic and surgery at this
Hospital.” The instruction was not entirely limited to clinical subjects, for
we find that in 1796 a Chemical Laboratery was fitted up, and lectures on
Chemistry delivered, whilst there seems fo be no doubt that systematic
instruction in Midwifery was given long hbefore the Medical School was
founded. _
Up to the year 1835 there was no deficiency of pupils at The Middlesex
Hospital. For a series of years the main supply was drawn from a cele-
brated school of medicine in Windmill Street, where the preliminary
Foundation sejentific subjects of the curriculum were taught. Upon the establishment
Oy Ooiors. in 1828 of the London University (now University College) the school in
1838.  Windmill Street was broken up, and the Students of the London University
sought their practical instruction in The Middlesex Hospital, but in 1834 the
London University built a hospital of their own, and their Students no
longer appeared in any numbers in the Wards of The Middlesex Hospital.
It was under these circumstances that in the summer of 1835, the
Governors, encouraged by the success that had attended their efforts to
enlarge and improve the Hospital, entertained the question of the establish-
E{u:ﬂ%?iﬂin ment of a Mepicar Scnooln in connection with the Hospital. The Hospital
Sehool, requires a succession of Pupils, who should be educated and trained under
1835, the observation of the Physicians and Surgeons of the Institution; and

Medical Attendants who have thus acquired a practical kmowledge of their
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profession are undoubtedly the most competent to take charge of individuals
and large communities. It was therefore resolved, at a Quarterly Court in
May, 1835, that a School should be erected by Subseription, By July the
amount was such as to encourage the Governors to commence the buildings,
which, under the superintendence of Groree Basevi, Esq., the Architect,
were completed by the lst of October, when the Medical Session began.

It would ocenpy too much space to relate here the varying fortunes of the
Medical School. There were years of great anxiety, when the entries of
new Students fell to so low a number as not even to suffice to fill the few
posts of resident officers to the Hospital, which form one of the main
advantages of the connection between the two institutions, There were also
years of prosperity, culminating in the eighties, when in point of numbers
The Middlesex Hospital Medical School took a high position among the
London Medical Schools. But throughout adversity and prosperity the
ingtitution, which was managed by a Committee formed of the Lecturing
Staff, maintained a reputation for sound and therough education, attracting
to its service as teachers in subjects not dealt with by members of the
Hospital Staff, men of eminence in their departments, and sending out every
year well-trained medical men, whose subsequent careers have testified to the
value of the training they had received.

It was not to be supposed that the buildings consisting of a Lecture
Theatre, Laboratory, Dissecting Room, Library, and Museum, which were
adequate for medical edueation in 1835, would always suffice. Yet apart

Additions

g
131

in 1675,

1860, and

from enlargement of the Museum in 1848 and again in 1860, but little 1ss5

addition was made to the original block umntil 1875, when another floor was
added, and in 1880 when a new Lecture Theatre and Dissecting Iloom were
built. The funds needed for these essential improvements were supplied
by the Governors by way of loan, it being recognized that it was to the
advantage of the Hospital that its School should be properly maintained.

On the Hospital acquiring the Lease of the Houses in Cleveland Street in
1885, the opportunity was seized for extending the Medical School. The
Medical Authorities had long been of opinion that, if the School was to keep
pace with the progress of similar institutions, more accommodation should be
provided for the prosecution of the varions studies.  The Board of Governors,
looking upon the interests of the School as intimately bound up with those
of the Hospital, concurred in this view, and advanced a further loan to enable
the School to erect a new Lecture Theatre, Library, Laboratory, and other
Offices.

Until the year 1895 the School, which had been under the Management of
the Medical Staff, was self-supporting, but in that year it became evident
that it could not be carried on any longer in a satisfactory manner apart from
financial assistance. Withont this the necessary additions and improvements
to the School Buildings and their equipment could not be made, and the
salaries of the lecturers, who were required for giving instruction in the pre-
liminary seientific part of the curriculum, could not be provided. The position
was @ critical one. On the one hand, the Hospital authorities were
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convinced that the loss of the School would damage the Hospital, and on the
other hand they doubted whether, having regard to the guasi-independent
relation of the School to the Hospital, they would be justified in recom-
mending the Governors to provide the moneys required to keep the S8chool in
existence. = Accordingly, after prolonged conference between the Hospital
and School Authorities, in which a leading part was taken by Loxn
Saypuvrst and Sik Raven Trowmrson, as Chairmen of the Weekly Board,
it was decided that the time had come when a complete fusion should be
effected. A Scheme of Amalgamation was prepared and approved by the
Quarterly Courtin August, 1896, whereby the Hospital took over all the
property of the School and its liabilities, would receive the income, and after
defraying the necessary expenses would previde a fixed annual sum for the
remuneration of the Teaching Staff.  The plan was to be subject to revision
at the end of three years. The administration of the School was vested in a
Couneil, on which the Weekly Board of Governors, the Medical Officers, ll.nr.'l
the Lecturers were represented.

The new body lost no fime in setting the School in order, and the-

necessary additions and improvemenis to the School Buildings and their -

equipment were completed early in the year 1898. The new scheme of
government has been found to work very satisfactorily, and according to the
proposal some financial rearrangement was effected in 1902, It seems likely
that in the near future the preliminary scientific subjects of the curriculum,
of which the maintenance forms no inconsiderable item of the Annual
Expenditure, will cease to be taught in any of the Medical Schools of
London, and be transferred to central institutions.  In that case it is hoped
that the School may again become self-supporting. ' '

The Anatomical and Pathological Museum, which, as seen, formed part of
the original block of buildings, was founded on the collections of the late
Dir. Swrarsman, Mr. Laxcstarr and others, and has been continually en-
riched by additions to the specimens. In 1884 its valuable contents were
catalogued by Dr. Fowner and Mr. Braxp-Svrrox at a total cost of £250,
towards which, the Museum being the property of the Hospital, the
(Governors made a grant of £100.

In 1896 the first Number of “The Middlesex Hnspltal Journal ' was
published, the need of such a periodical being felt by the Students, with
whom it originated. The most active promoter of its publication was
Mr. Lrororn Hvupsox, whose early death, which occurred before the second
issue, was deeply felt.

The interest evinced by the Governors in the fortunes of the Medical
School has been shown in the foundation of awards to meritorious Siudents.
Thus we find in 1850 Mr. Micnarr Surrn, a member of the Weekly Board,

gave a prize of £5 for general proficiency. In 1851 was instituted the
¢ Treasvrers’ Purize,” succeeded in 1859 by the “GovenNons' szn,“

which has ever sinee been annually awarded.
In 1872 two scholarships were founded and named * BropErie ScHOLAR-

suips,” in memory of the munificent Benefactor Mr. Fraxneis BroperIp, in
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The College itself is an imposing red-brick Building overlooking the
Garden, with accommodation for thirty Students, and was designed by
Mz, K. D. Youxe, Architect to the Hospital. When the Resident Officers
were deprived of their quarters in the Hospital, to make way for the new
Children’s Ward, they were transferred {o rooms in the College, which were
connected with the main Building by a system of electric bells, and subse-
quently by telephone, so that the Officers could be summoned as readily as
if they were residing in the Hospital. Accommodation is also provided in
the College for the Extern Clerks attending Maternity cases at the Patients’
homes.

XL

The affairs of the Hospital are administered by a Board of Governors,
appointed at the February Court in each year. The Board meets every week
for the transaction of business, and elects its own Chairman and Deputy-
Chairman. It has been fortunate in having been presided over by Chairmen
of great practical sagacity, who have taken the keenest interest in the

Tha Weekl:r Institution, and spared neither time nor pains to promote its welfare. The
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gentlemen who have held this office during the past fifty years have been
Mr. Micuakn Ssmrrn (1851 to 1866), Major A. H. Ross, M.P. (1867 to
1888)," Lorp Sanprursr (1888 to 1894, and 1902 to 1904), Sik Rarrm
Trospsox, K.C.B. (1895 to 1902), and Lorp CreviesMorE (1904).

The Weekly Board, in respect to all questions involving the treatment of
the Patients, iz in harmonious accord with the Mediecal Committee, to whom
such matters are referred, and by whom recommendations and nominations
are made. :

The Chief Executive Officer is the Secretary-Superintendent, the Medical
management being entrusted to the Resident Medical Officer, and that of
the Nursing Department to the Lady Superintendent of Nursing, on office
which about thirty-five years ago was substituted for that of Matron.

Formerly elections to the Honorary Staff were made by the votes of the
whole body of Governors, a cumbrons method not invariably caleulated to
result in the appointment of the best qualified candidate. In 1879 this
plan was, by a resolution of the Quarterly Court replaced by one which is
both more equitable and more rational. An Election Committee was
constituted, consisting of twelve representatives of the Governors nominated
by the Court, six by the Weekly Board, and six by the Medical Committes,
the nominations being made annually in May.

In 1902 the Laws of the Hospital were remodelled and moulded in their
present form by a Committee consisting of Sir ArTHUR WaTsox, Bart., K.C.,
Mr. W. E. Gruuerr, and Lt.-Col. T. LaMpert Mzrars, M.A., LL.D. )

As regards the control over the Ixpenditure and the keeping of the
Accounts, the Board of Governors have always exercised a rigorous super-
vision. From time to time the Management has been the snbject of
favourable eriticism from outside persons. In the year 1874 Sin Sypnex
WaterLow, at a Meeting of the Council of the Metropolitan Hospital
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Sunday Fund (whose timely aid has often enabled the Hospital to meet the
yearly expenditure without trenching on capital), mentioned this Institution
as one of the best managed in London.

In the year 1892 the office of Steward was abolished, the duties previously
discharged by that functionary being committed into the direct charge of
the Secretary-Superintendent, whose staff was reinforced by the additional
appointment of another Clerk.

In the year 1892 a change was made in the system of keeping the
Aceounts, in accordance with a form drawn up by the Committee of Hospital
Secretaries with a view to introduce a uniformity of system in all Hospitals.
Another change was made in the abolition of the office of Collector, and the
appointment of a Colleeting Clerk under the direct supervision of the
Secretary-Superintendent. .

An important question in regard to the diet of Patients was raised by
Mr. GeorGEe STURGE in the year 1885. That gentleman, whose name will
ever be remembered in connection with this Institution for his gemerous
benefactions, as well as for the genuine interest which in other ways he
evinced in its welfare, drew attention to the success which had atiended the
efforts of other charities in the reduction of expenditure on wines, spirits,
and beer ; at the same time expressing his regret that similar results had not
been obtained at other Hospitals, including The Middlesex. The Board at
once instituted an investigation into the question of consumption of
aleoholie liquors, and were able to give Mr. Srurcr a far from unsatisfactory
answer, showing a steady decrease in the expenditure under this head in the
previous ten years. The cost per Patient (exclusive of the Cancer Patients)
was found to be 1s. 104, a fizure which compared very favourably with the
results for other large Hospitals. Wines and spirits are regarded as articles
of medicine, and are issued as such by the Dispenser, only upon written
order of the Medical Authority, a record being kept of such issues and
returned weekly both to the Board of Governors and fo the Medical
Committee.

XII.

The growth of a Hospital is represenfed by the additions that are found
to be necessary to the Staff of Medical Men as the number of Patients
increases and special Departmentis are opened up; and The Middlesex
Hospital, which in its first decade was fully equipped with a Staff of three
Physicians, three Surgeons, a Physician Man-Midwife, a Resident
Apothecary, and a “ House-Pupil,” has now come to employ a Staff
(including Resident Officers) of no less than 40 members of the
Medical Profession, the majority of whom give their services * without
fee or reward.” No better proof could be given of the amount of work
required for the eflicient administration of the Institution and of the wide
expansion of its benefits. ,

The records show that although the Honorary Staff normally comprised
three full Physicians, three Surgeons, and a Physician-Accoucheur, yet from
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time to time and for varying periods there have been four Physicians or four
Surgeons. In all, since its foundation there have been fifty-five Physicians
and thirty-three Surgeons in office, the latter having served on an average
for longer terms than the former, one indeed, Mr. Samvrr Howarn, holding
office for the space of fifty-one years, from 1759 to 1810. It may be well to
record the names of a few who have added lustre to the Hospital by their
personal character and scientific attainments, Amongst the Fhysicians
may be named Ricwarp Warrew (17566 to 1748), Lucas Preys (1769 to
1775), H. R. Rev~ouns (1773 to 1777), Jouw Larmam (1789 to 1793), HeNry
VaveuaN (1793 to 1800), Perer M. Laruau (1815 to 1824), H. H. Bournsy
(1815 to 1827), F. Hawkmvs (1824 to 1858), Tros. Warsox (1827 fo 1843),
A. P. Srewarr (1855 to 1866), 8. J. Gooorerrow (1858 to 1871), H.
Tuoursox (1859 to 1879), €. Murcusox (1866 to 1870), E. H. Grersnow
(1871 to 1879), J. Murray, Assistant Physician (1871 to 1878). ' Amongst
the Surgeons are the names of Cras, Brrn (1814 to 1836), Joux Smaw (L8265
to 1827), H. Mavo (1827 to 1842), Jas. M. Arxorr (1833 to 1848), ALex.
Suaw (1842 to 1869), C. D Morsax (1845 to 1876), (. H. Moozz (1849 to
1870), J. W. Huvkke (1870 to 1825), G. Lawsox (1873 to 1895); and amongst
Assistant Surgeons W. H. Frower (1858 to 1862), R. W. Lyrus (1879 to
1882), and C. L. Hupsox (1895 to 1897). The list of Physician-Adceoucheurs
includes the names of Tuos. Dexyax (1769 to 1783), 8. Merrimax (1809 to
1826), who subsequently became Treasurer to the Hospital, Omas. Wesr
(1847 to 1850), TexrLe Frere (1850 to 1861), W, PriestruEy (1861 10 1863),
J. Harn Davis (1863 to 1883), and A, W. Ep1s (1883 to 1889). .

The office of = _Assistant Physician was first established in 1840, when
Dr. Mervyy Crawrorn was appointed. There continued to be one Assistant
Physician until 1853, when a second was appointed. In 1863 the number
wasg increased to three and in 1889 to four. There was an dssistawt Surgeon
in 1746 and again in 1806, but the office was not permanently created until
18381, Mr, J. M. Arxorr being the first holder. In 1838 the number was
increased to two, and in 1894 to three. The office of _dssistant Obstetric
Physician was created in 1874, there having been previously only one
Physician to this Department.

Reference has already been made to the special Departments, most of
which are of comparatively recent origin, and the formation of whmh has
considerably increased the Staft of Honorary Officers. Lt

The first appointment of an Anesthetist was made in 1874, the number o:l'
such officers being increased to two in 1885, and to three in 1895,

The first incumbent of the office of Registrar was Mr. 8. W. SIBLEY in
1853, and he continued to act in this capacity until 1861.  The records

show that there was also at intervals a Surgical Registrar, of whom the first

to hold office was Me. D. B. Baupive in 1855, but it was not until IEET that

the permanent introduction of a Medical and a Surgical Registrar was made.

To these have now been recently added an Obstetric Registrar. The duty
of performing the post-mortem examinations devolved upon the Registrars
until the year 1875, when the office of Pathologist was linked with that of
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themselves from the restraint and discipline which are essential to the
well-being of a large Imstitution. With a view to improve the position of
the Nurses, and to ofler more inducement to them to give the Hospital the
benefit of their mature experience, it was decided to devote the fees paid by
the Lady Probationers to the formation of a Fund from which pensions and
gratuities should be granted to such of the Nursing Staff as should have
completed certain fixed terms of satisfactory service. Later on considerable
improvements were made in the Nurses' quarters, and in the year 1878 the
new buildings in Cleveland Street were opened, confaining six additional
bedrooms for Lady Probationers and eight for Nurses, and also a new day
room, tastefully furnished at the expense of Miss CavenpisH BENTINCE, &
well-known Benefactress of the Hospital.

Another use made of the Lady Probationer Fee Fund was the institution
of Lectures to the Nurses by Members of the Medical Staff, which have
continued with signal success to the present day, Certificates being granted
to such Nurses as have attended the Course of Lectures.

In 1886 & new departure was taken, which has been thoroughly justified
by its results. The tendency on the part of Nurses to attach themselves to
Nursing Institutions, rather than continue in the service of the Hospital, led
the Governors to consider whether such an Institution could not be founded
in direct communication with this Hospital. A building was accordingly
erected adjoining the Nurses’ Home, and was opened in the following year
as an Institution for supplying Nurses, who should have been thoroughly
trained in the Hospital, to the general Public. From that time forward the
Institute has been a signal success, amply repaying the expenses incurred
on its behalf; providing as it does for the requirements of sick persons of
more or less affluent circumstances, by whom the Nurses' services are
greatly appreciated, and affording to the Nurses (after five, or in some cases
three years' training) a comfortable home and remunerative occupﬂ.tinn for
their years of activity, and an assured pension in old age.

The Management and Finances of the Trained Nurses Inatltuta are
entirely under the control of the Governors, and a table of I:m:««:-mer and
Expenditure is published annually with the Hospital Accounts.

In the year 1892 ‘an arrangement was made, at the suggestion of the
Lady-Superintendent, by which Lady Probationers who had shown exceptional
promise were enabled, at the completion of their term of training, to anter
the service of the Hospital as Staff Nurses.

In the year 1893 the Nursing Committee examined carefully the question
of the Nurses' dietary, and as a result of their report, some improvements
were made in the meals and in the refreshment provided for the Night Nurses.

Quite recently the Nursing Home has been extended by the erection of a
building on the last remaining plot in Cleveland Street that was unoccupied.
This building is architecturally in keeping with the Nursing Institute,
which it adjoins. The addition not only provides for the accommodation of
an increased number of Nurses, but supplies the Home with a greatly
improved dining hall and recreation rooms.
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The Nursing Staff now consists, in addition to the Night Superintendent, Eh:g L
of 9 Head Nurses or Sisters, 62 Staff Nurses, 37 ordinary Probationers, and Stn“ﬂ:ng
16 to 20 Lady Probationers. There are also 10 Wardmaids. These are

exclusive of those employed in the Cancer Wing.

XIV.

Besides the several Philanthropic persons whose names occur in various Benefactors
connections in the foregoing pages, mention should not be omitted of the
nm any Donors, who from time fo time have contributed large sums to the
Funds of the Hospital. Of such are the Rev. F. Jacox and Lupwie
Nevmanw, Esq., both of whom have endowed Beds in the Hospital, Loxrp
Roserr Seymour, the Duks of NorTeUMBERLAND, the Marauis or
Westminster, “ D, T. 8.” Rev. E. K. JopreLr, Sk R. WaLrac, “ A Suffolk
Reetor,” “T. W. R.,” Sir Errrorr Lees, Bart., M.P., W. H. Jouxsox, Esq.,
Banox v Himscr, Jou~xy Marre, Esq., Mrs. A. Towry 'Efu.r., “ CAMBRIDGE,”
A. W. Davis, Esq., the Trustees of Smith’s Charity, Kensington, Timoruy
Brax, Esq., Marraew Wurrise, Esq., the 16th Eary or Derpy, many of the
large City Companies, and several anonymouns Donors who have given sums
of £1,000 and upwards.

HEr paTe Masesry Queex Vierorra throughout the whole pf her reign
contributed yearly the sum of One Hundred Guineas, a contribution which -
has been graciously continued by His Guractovs Masesty Ture Kine.

There are many others whose contributions may have been smaller, but
whose names are recorded in the RErcisrer or Bexeractiows, though, for
want of space, their generous actions cannot be chronicled at length in these
pages; and there are also many who, though not making any great
contribution directly to the Funds, have no less contributed most materially
to the welfare of this Institution by exerting themselves in various ways on
its behalf: of such are Josern W. Turvrr, Esq., Stz E. Scorr, Ruraven
Pym, Esq., and Fraxcis Hoare, Esq., who successively for long periods filled
the responsible office of Treasurer to the Hospital.

The most noteworthy Lecacres have been the Bequests of Miss Many
Easox in 1890, and Prorrssor Davip Hueues, F.R.8,, in 1900. The faimer
will, when fully realized, amount to nearly £90,000 ; the latter consists of
one-fourth of the residue of the Testator's large estate, which constitutes the
“Davin E. Huvenrs’ Hoseirarn Trusr,” and is intended to make a sub-
stantial addition to the permanent endowment of the Hospital. The full
benefit of this Gift will not be enjoyed until twenty-one years after the
death of the Testator. Amongst other munificent bequests are those of
Lavy Muuray, Fraxcis Broveriv, Esq., J. F. Pixe Scriveser, Esq., and
Mrs. Isaperra Cmaxoress, who each gave sums of Ten Thousand Pounds
and upwards, and very many others who bequeathed amounts varying from
Ten to Ten Thousand 'ounds. The benefactions of the late Hexry Sricer,
Esq., and Epmonp Drespex, Esq., are dealt with in a subsequent paragraph
under the Heading of Samaritan Fund.
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in # languishing condition, and it was then ordered that the proceeds of the
Alms Boxes within the Hospital should be applied to its support. iR
“ Dresden The work of the SBamaritan Fund has recently been considerably enhanced.
%ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁum By his will the late Mz, Epmonn Drespen bequeathed £5,000 to the general |
purposes of the Hospital, and a substantial sum of money to be vested in the
names of speeially appointed Trustees, the income to be applied exclusively for
assisting poor and needy In-Patients on their discharge from the Hospital.
The Trustees are the Almoners of “Tur Drespexy Assistaxce Fosp,” who
are empowered to make grants to such persons on the adviee of responsible
officers, not exceeding the sum of £10 in each individual case. The greater
part of this legacy has already been received, Trustees appointed; and a
working scheme for the administration of the Fund formed. To mark the
Governors’ appreciation of this benefaction a ward in the Convalescent Home
has been named the “ Enymonn Drespex » Ward.
Selection In the year 1891 Mr. W. Denexunam, a member of the Weekly Boal'd.,
E{aﬁf generously offered the sum of £500 towards the erection of a Convalescent
Home, whereupon a Committee was appointed to reconsider the project,
which was now destined to be carried info effect. The Committee inspected
various sites in different parts of the country, but it was not till 1895 that
their choice was made in favour of Clacton-on-Sea, a popular resort on the
Fssex coast. This flonrishing watering-place seemed to possess all the
qualifications needed for the building of a Home and the laying out of a
suitable garden. Accordingly a freehold site of five acres was purchased in
December, 1893, for £1,500. Before the completion of the purchase was
announced the Hospital became the recipient of a munificent beguest, which
put at rest any doubts that may have been entertained as to the wisdom of
inewrring the increased expenditure which would be entailed by the erection
and maintenance of a Convalescent Home, withont an assurance that the
Funds would be forthcoming to meet it. On the 4th of March, 1595, the will
was proved of the late Hexry Seicer, Fsq.,, who devised one-sixth of his
residuary estate in trust for the benefit of the Samaritan Fund, * o be
applied for the relief and comtort of poor and needy Patients, bat not for
the General purposes of the Hospital, and in no case to be expended in
religions teaching or religious observances.” The sum received from this
Legacy amounts to £22,157 0s. 8d.,and is vesied in Trustees appniutadbythﬁ
Weekly Board of the Hospital.
After the receipt of this benefaction no further time was lost, and a eon-
tract was shortly entered into for the erectiom of a suitable bmlding from
Opening of designs by Mr. K. D. Yovxe, and it was opened in August, 1896, for the
iﬂ?ﬂg&;h reception of Patients, the completion of the Building being celebrated in |
Home. July by & Garden Féte at the Hospital, which was attended by '[.B.H. Tar
Drke axp Ducness or York (now Prixce axp Privcess or Wanes). - r{
 The Building, which is of handsome design, was fitted up with all modern
improvements. It contains four Male Wards (named “ Yonk,” “Seices,”
* DepexHam,” and “Epmoxp Drespex ') and Four Female Wards (* Easow,”
“Breapansane,” “Ponrrtaman,” and “Dr Hirscun), and can accommedate
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